福井大学審査 学位論文 [博士(工学)] A Dissertation Submitted to the University of Fukui for the Degree of Doctor of Engineering

Production of anti-cancer agent cordycepin from the medicinal mushroom *Cordyceps militaris*

(薬用キノコ Cordyceps militaris による 抗腫瘍性物質コルジセピンの生産)

2009, September

Shonkor Kumar Das

Dedicated to my beloved parents

CONTENTS

СНАР	TER 1 General introduction	1				
1.1	Fundamentals of medicinal mushrooms					
1.2	Application of medicinal mushrooms					
1.3	Constraints and prospects of anti-cancer agent production from the	5				
	medicinal mushroom Cordyceps militaris					
1.4	References	6				
СНАР	TER 2 A new approach for improving cordycepin productivity in	9				
surface	e liquid culture of <i>Cordyceps militaris</i> using high-energy ion beam					
irradia	ation	0				
2.1	Introduction	9				
2.2	Materials and methods	10				
2.2.1	Characteristics of mutant induction by ion beam irradiation	10				
2.2.2	Ion beam irradiation and screening11					
2.2.2-1	Irradiation protocol by carbon and proton beam	11				
2.2.2-2	Measuring the growth rate of irradiated strains	13				
2.2.2-3	Selection of analogue (8-azaadenine and 8-azaguanine)-resistant mutants	13				
2.2.2-4	Evaluation of cordycepin production performance using anti-microbial test	13				
2.2.3	Surface liquid culture of analogue-resistant mutants and control	14				
2.2.4	Analytical procedures	16				
2.3	Results and discussion	16				
2.3.1	Comparison of growth rate of carbon and proton beam-irradiated strains	16				
	with control					
2.3.2	Selection and isolation of mutants that show preferable anti-microbial test	18				
2.3.3	Cordycepin production by surface liquid culture using selected mutants	19				
	and control					
2.4	Conclusion	22				
2.5	References 22					

CHAP	TER 3 Optimization of culture medium for cordycepin production	25
using	Cordyceps militaris mutant obtained by ion beam irradiation	
3.1	Introduction	25
3.2	Materials and methods	26
3.2.1	Surface liquid culture of the obtained mutant (G81-3) and control	26
3.2.2	Application of statistical approach for surface liquid culture	26
3.2.2-1	Experiments on effects of initial carbon (C) and nitrogen (N) levels on	26
	cordycepin production	
3.2.2-2	Optimization using central composite design (CCD)	28
3.2.3	Analytical procedures	29
3.2.3-1	Determination of cordycepin, glucose concentration, dry mycelial weight	29
	and pH	
3.3	Results and discussion	29
3.3.1	Optimization of cordycepin production by response surface methodology	29
	(RSM)	
3.3.2	Cordycepin production in optimized medium: validation of the model	36
3.4	Conclusion	38
3.5	References	39
СНАР	TER 4 Further increased productivity of cordycepin by <i>Cordyceps</i>	41
militar	is mutant using additives and repeated batch operation	
4.1	Introduction	41
4.2	Materials and methods	42
4.2.1	Fungal strain, media and stock culture	42
4.2.2	Surface liquid culture using the prospective mutant (G81-3)	43
4.2.3	Experimental design for adenosine and glycine	43
4.2.4	Repeated batch operation	45
4.2.5	Preparation of extract from the mycelia of C. militaris	45
4.2.6	Analytical procedures	46

4.3	Results and discussion			
4.3.1	Effects of additives	46		
4.3.1-1	Effect of adenosine on cordycepin production	46		
4.3.1-2	Effect of glycine on cordycepin production	48		
4.3.2	Effects of repeated batch operation	51		
4.3.2-1	Typical batch operation of C. militaris	51		
4.3.2-2	Repeated batch operation of control, mutant, and mutant with adenosine	53		
	using optimized media			
4.3.2-3	Nucleic acid-related compounds	59		
4.3.2-4	Measurement of dry mycelial weight	61		
4.4	Conclusion	62		
4.5	References	63		
CHAP'	TER 5 General conclusion	64		
5.1	Achievements	64		
5.2	Future perspectives	66		
List of J	publications	68		
Acknow	Acknowledgements			

CHAPTER 1 General introduction

Medicinal chemistry is a field involving the study of chemistry of medicinal mushrooms as well as medicinal herbs and their application in the field of pharmacology, in order to prepare novel drugs by biotechnological means. This field is becoming more important day by day, and has been widely investigated due to its practical benefits. Synthetic drugs are available in the commercial market and are being used in daily life, but they are not safe enough as they leave some side effects and sometimes harmful for human health. On the other hand, there is still a lack in research on the chemistry and bio-constituents of the medicinal mushrooms those may provide more efficacious and safer drugs having no side effects. This thesis intends to fill this lack, focusing on the production of anti-cancer agent from the natural source like medicinal mushroom *Cordyceps militaris* to be used in the realm of pharmaco-industrial biotechnology.

1.1 Fundamentals of medicinal mushrooms

Cordyceps genus is the name given to the fungi on insects, and its existence has been known since in the era, 2000 B.C. The medicinal mushrooms including *Cordyceps* species are abundant sources of useful natural products with various biological activities [1]. One of the most important traditional Chinese medicines, *Cordyceps militaris* (an entomopathogenic fungus; Fig. 1-1), which belongs to the class *Ascomycetes*, has been used extensively as a crude drug and a folk tonic food in East Asia [2]. It contains many kinds of active components (such as cordycepin, ergosterol, mannitol and, polysaccharides), and due to its various physiological activities, it is now used for multiple medicinal purposes [3-5]. In the wide meanings of fungi parasitic to the insects, more than 350 types have been discovered until now. At present, the detailed research about its elements is being done in universities and other research institutions, this has increased greatly its medicinal value. There are over 2,500 mushroom varieties grown in the world today. It is estimated that more than 10 million metric tons of edible and medicinal mushrooms were produced last

year in various countries [6]. That is why mushrooms have recently received significant attention from medical and pharmacological researchers as rich sources of biologically active compounds [7]. The taxonomical data of *C. militaris* and popular names of *Cordyceps* are given below:



Fig. 1-1 Photograph of Cordyceps militaris (www.jscr.jp)

Taxonomical data of Cordyceps militaris:

Kingdom	Fungi
Phylum	Ascomycota
Sub-phylum	Ascomycotina
Class	Ascomycetes/Pyrenomycetes
Order	Hypocreales
Family	Clavicipataceae
Genus	Cordyceps
Species	Cordyceps militaris

Popular names of Cordyceps:

Common name	Caterpillar fungus, Cordyceps, Cetepiller mushroom
Latin/English name	Cordyceps militaris, Cordyceps mushroom, Deer fungus, Caterpillar fungus
Chinese name	Dong Chong Xia Cao, Summer grass-winter worm, Hia tsao tong tchong
Japanese name	Tochukaso/Tochukasu, Totsu kasu
Korean name	Tong ch'ug ha ch'o
Nepali name	Yarsagumba, Jeebanbuti, Sanjivani, Kiraghans
Tibetian name	Yarchakunbu
Other names	Chong cao, Dong chong cao, Aweto

1.2 Applications of medicinal mushrooms

Cordyceps militaris is a potential harbour of bio-metabolites for many potential drugs and evidence is available about its applications for the revitalization of various systems of the body from ancient times. WHO estimated that about three-quarters of the world's population currently use natural drugs and other forms of traditional medicines like medicinal mushrooms to treat their diseases [8] including asthma (24%) [9] breast cancer (12%) [10], HIV (22%) [11], liver disease (21%) [12], and rheumatological disorders (26%) [13]. Simultaneously, the development of modern chemistry permitted the isolation of chemicals from medicinal mushrooms that have served as drugs or starting materials for the synthesis of many important drugs used today. Many modern drugs have been synthesized based on the structures and action mechanisms of chemicals isolated from medicinal mushrooms [7]. Thus, medicinal mushrooms have played a major role in the development of modern medicine and continue to be widely used in their original form [14].





Adenosine

Fig. 1-2 Chemical structures of cordycepin and adenosine



Fig. 1-3 Inhibition of purine and polynucleotide biosynthesis by cordycepin

The main active constituent of C. militaris fruiting bodies is cordycepin, which was first extracted from C. militaris and then found to be present in Cordyceps sinensis [15] and Cordvceps kyushuensis [16]. The cordycepin (3'-deoxyadenosine, $C_{10}H_{13}N_5O_3$, m.p. 225 °C, [α] D-47°) (Fig.1-2), a nucleoside analogue [15, 17], is considered as a nucleic acid antibiotic that might inhibit canceration of cells contributing to the normalization of cancer cells as one of the constituents of gene DNA [15]. In addition, it has been reported that the cordycepin is intracellularly converted into its 5'-mono-, di- and triposphates that inhibit the activity of several enzymes (Figs. 1-3) in the purine biosynthetic pathway [18]. The recent studies have demonstrated that the extracts of C. *militaris* have multiple pharmacological actions, such as inhibition of human glomerular mesangial cell proliferation [19]. anti-fibrotic [20], anti-angiogenetic [21], improvement of insulin resistance and insulin secretion [22], anti-inflammatory [23], and growth inhibition of U937 leukemia cells [24]. Besides, it is also reported that cordycepin itself acts as an anti-tumour, anti-proliferative, anti-metastatic, insecticidal and anti-bacterial compound [4]. Therefore, the medicinal mushroom C. militaris is one of the most important candidates that may be used as the medicinal base in the future.

1.3 Constraints and prospects of anti-cancer agent production from the medicinal mushroom *Cordyceps militaris*

As cancer remains the second leading cause of death in most of the countries, there is a need for effective medicinal compounds as its remedy. To synthesize and modify the structure of bioactive natural products is an effective approach to find some potential compounds with anti-cancer activity [25]. In the present state, the production of cordycepin from the fruiting body of *Cordyceps militaris* is not likely to reach commercial levels due to some practical limitations. For example, *Cordyceps militaris* is very scarce in nature due to the requirements of specific hosts and strict growth environments. On the other hand, it is necessary to note that the chemical synthesis of cordycepin requires a complicated process resulting a lower productivity, moreover, a large volume of organic solvents those are harmful substances to the environment may be discharged [26, 27]. The friendly production of cordycepin from the cultured mycelia of *Cordyceps militaris* in a large scale is currently an acute issue. Some experiments have already proven that the chemical components of natural and cultured *Cordyceps militaris* are similar [28, 29].

The ancient medicinal fungus *C. militaris*, which has been used as a crude drug for the welfare of mankind in old civilization, is now of a matter of concern due to its unexplored potentials. The anti-cancer agent cordycepin obtained from *C. militaris* have more than 21 clinically approved beneficial effects for human health. Especially, the anti-cancer agent cordycepin from *C. militaris* is expected to play evolutionary roles in the pharmacognosy sector, leading to create a viable base for pharmaceutical industries as some emerging diseases like CANCER, SARS, AIDS, SWINE FLU have no proper remedies yet.

Considering these facts, mutation of *C. militaris* by a high-energy ion beam irradiation to have a new potential mutant, medium optimization, use of suitable additives, and repeated batch culture technique might be vital tools to allow the

production of anti-cancer agent cordycepin reach to the commercial levels.

1.4 References

- [1] Gu YX, Want ZS, Li SX, Yuan QS. Effects of multiple factors on accumulation of nucleosides and bases in *Corydyceps militaris*. Food Chem 2007, 102: 1304-1309.
- [2] Ying J, Mao X, Ma Q, Wen H. Icons of medicinal mushroom from China. Beijing: Science Press Beijing (in Chinese) 1987, 151-155.
- [3] Mizuno T. Medicinal Effects and Utilization of Cordyceps (Fr.) Link (Ascomycetes) and Isaria Fr. (Mitosporic Fungi) Chineese Caterpiller Fungi, "Tochukaso" (Review). Intl J Med Mushr 1999, 1: 251-261.
- [4] Song CH, Jeon YJ, Yang BK, Ra KS, Sung JM. Anti-complementary activity of exo-polymers produced from submerged mycelial cultures of higher fungi with particular reference to *Cordyceps militaris*. J Microbiol Biotechnol 1998, 8: 536-539.
- [5] Nag TB, Wang HX. Pharmacological actions of *Cordyceps*, a prized folk medicine. *J Pharm Pharmacol* 2005, 57: 1509-1519.
- [6] Royse DJ. Forward to the fifth international conference on mushroom biology and mushroom products. *Acta Edulis Fungi* (Suppl.) 2005, 12: 1-2.
- [7] Wasser SP. Medicinal mushrooms as a source of antitumor and immunomodulating polysaccharides. *Appl Microbiol Biotechnol* 2002, 60: 258-274.
- [8] Nazma Inamdar, Shima Edalat, Vikram BK, Pawar S. Herbal drugs in milieu of modern drugs. *Int J Green Pharm* 2008, 3-4: 2-8.
- [9] Blanc PD, Trupin L, Earnest G. Alternative therapies among adults with a reported diagnosis of asthma or rhinosinusitis: data from a population-based survey. *Chest* 2001, 120: 1461-1467.
- [10] Burstein HJ, Gelber S, Guadagnoli E, Week JC. Use of alternative medicine by women with early-stage breast cancer. *New Engl J Med* 1999, 340: 1733-1739.

- [11] Kassler WJ, Blanc P, Greenblatt R. The use of medicinal herbs by human immunodeficiency virus-infected patients. Arch Intern Med 1999, 151: 2281-2288.
- [12] Strader DB, Bacon BR, Lindsay KL. Use of complementary and alternative medicine in patients with liver disease. Am J Gastroenterol 2002, 97: 2391-2397.
- [13] Rao JK, Mihaliak K, Kroenke K. Use of complementary therapies for arthritis among patients of rheumatologists. *Ann Intern Med* 1999, 131: 409-416.
- [14] Mathews HB, Lucier GW, Fisher KD. Medicinal herbs in the United States: research needs. *Environ Health Perspect* 1999, 107(10): 773-778.
- [15] Cunningham KG, Hutchinson SA, Manson W, Spring FS. Cordycepin, a metabolic product from cultures of *Cordyceps militaris* (Linn.) Link. Part I. Isolation and characterization. *J Chem Soc* 1951: 2299–2300.
- [16] Ling JY, Sun YJ, Zhang PLV, Zhang CK. Measurement of cordycepin and adenosine in stroma of *Cordyceps* sp. by capillary zome electrophoresis (CZE). *J Biosci Bioeng* 2002, 94: 371-374.
- [17] Ahn YJ, Park SJ, Lee SG, Shin SC, Choi DH. Cordycepin: selective growth inhibitor derived from liquid culture of *Cordyceps militaris* against *Clostridium* spp. J Agric Food Chem 2002; 48: 2744-2748.
- [18] Masuda M, Urabe E, Sakurai A, Sakakibara M. Production of cordycepin by surface culture using the medicinal mushroom *Cordyceps militaris*. *Enzyme Microb Technol* 2006, 39: 641-646.
- [19] Zhao-Long W, Xiao-Xia W, Wei-Ying C. Inhibitory effect of Cordyceps sinensis and *Cordyceps militaris* on human glomerular mesangial cell proliferation induced by native LDL. *Cell Biochem Funct* 2000, 18(2): 93-97.
- [20] Nan JX, Park EJ, Yang BK, Song CH, Ko G, Sohn DH. Antibiotic effect of extracellular biopolymer from submerged mycelial cultures of *Cordyceps militaris* on liver fibrosis induced by bile duct ligation and scission in rats. *Arch Pharm Res* 2001, 24(4): 327-332.
- [21] Yoo HS, Shin JW, Cho JH, Son CG, Lee YW, Park SY, Cho CK. Effects of

Cordyceps militaris extract on angiogenesis and tumor growth. *Acta Pharmacol Sin* 2004, 25: 657-665.

- [22] Choi SB, Park CH, Choi MK, Jun DW, Park S. Improvement of Insulin Resistance and Insulin Secretion by Water Extracts of *Cordyceps militaris*, *Phellinus linteus*, and *Paecilomyces tenuipes* in 90% pancreatectomized rats. *Biosci Biotechnol Biochem* 2004, 68(11): 2257-2264.
- [23] Won SY, Park EH. Anti-inflammatory and related pharmacological activities of cultured mycelia and fruiting bodies of *Cordyceps militaris*. J Ethnopharm 2005, 96: 555-561.
- [24] Park C, Hong SH, Lee JY, Kim GY, Choi BT, Lee YT, Park YM, Jeong YK, Choi YH. Growth inhibition of U937 leukemia cells by aqueous extract of *Cordyceps militaris* through induction of apoptosis. *Oncol Rep* 2005, 13: 1211-1216.
- [25] Yi X, Kuiwu W, Yuanjiang P, Hongxiang S, Jue T. Isolation, synthesis, and anti-tumor activities of a novel class of podocarpic diterpenes. *Bioorg Med Chem Lett* 2005, 16: 786-789.
- [26] Wu ZL, Wang XX, Cheng WY. Inhibitory effect of *Cordycceps sinensis* and *Cordycceps militaris* on human glomerular mesangial cell proliferation induced by native LDL. *Cell Biochem Funct* 2000, 18: 93-97.
- [27] Aman S, Anderson DJ, Connolly TJ, Crittall AJ, Ji G. From adenosine to 3'-deoxyadenosine: development and scale up. Org Process Res Dev 2000, 4: 601–605.
- [28] Jiang XL, Sun Y. The determination of active components in various Cordyceps militaris strains. Acta Edulia Fungi 1999, 6(1): 47–50.
- [29] Tong YK, Kuang T, Wu YX, Zhang QY, Ren J. Comparation of components of *Cordyceps* mycelium and natural *Cordyceps sinensis*. *Shi Pin Yan Jiu Yu Kai Fa* 1997, 18(4): 40–42.

CHAPTER 2

A new approach for improving cordycepin productivity in surface liquid culture of *Cordyceps militaris* using high-energy ion beam irradiation

2.1 Introduction

Cordycepin, one of the most bioactive compounds found in *Cordyceps* species (summer grass-winter worm) exhibits anti-microbial, anti-tumor, anti-metastatic, immunomodulating and insecticidal effects [1, 2]. Various studies of cordycepin production using *Cordyceps* species have been carried out to meet its increasing demand [3, 4]. In the present state, the production of cordycepin is not likely to reach a commercial level owing to some practical limitations regarding production, and therefore, the mutation using a new technique will be expected to allow its production to reach a commercial level.

Ion beams, among many mutation methods, are powerful and efficient mutagenic tools with high linear energy transfer (LET) radiation as they can generate mutations more frequently than low LET radiations such as electrons, X-rays and gamma rays [5], and the range of the ion beams on the target materials can be controlled [6]. Moreover, ion beams induce nuclear DNA alterations, such as inversion, translocation, transversion and large deletions rather than point mutations, and therefore, this random mutagenesis could produce various types of mutants [5, 7, 8]. There are some applications of low-energy ion implantation (keV) [9], but the penetration depth into a microorganism (~nm) is practically much lower than the MeV ion beam. Therefore, the probability that the keV ion beam reaches the nuclear DNA is much lower than that of the MeV ion beam. On the other hand, it is necessary to note that the chemical mutagenesis has potential health and environmental hazards.

The application of high-energy (~MeV) ion beam irradiation has been limited for micro-organism mutagen, and therefore, an unknown but strong possibility for the mutagen could be expected. In this study, the high-energy proton beam irradiation

was applied to get *Cordyceps militaris* mutants that could produce cordycepin at commercial level.

2.2 Materials and methods

2.2.1 Characteristics of mutant induction by ion beam irradiation

Ion beam irradiation is applied to various fields such as material science, biotechnology and medical sciences. In principle, any irradiation system usually change in the genetic sequences of targeted material resulting a new one having higher or sometimes lower production capacity. The characteristics of mutation induction by different irradiation systems are somewhat different regarding their point of action. In fact, many investigators, chiefly using mammalian systems, have reported that relative biological effectiveness (RBE) of DNA damage, lethality, mutation etc. of ion beams is much higher than that of low LET ionizing radiation. Also, it is still unknown whether ion beams can induce peculiar mutants that have never been found by low LET radiations and chemical mutagens in plants. Fig. 2-1 shows the comparative mutation induction types of gamma ray and ion beam irradiation.



Fig. 2-1 Comparative mutation induction type of gamma ray and ion beam irradiation

2.2.2 Ion beam irradiation and screening

2.2.2-1 Irradiation protocol by carbon and proton beam

Cordyceps militaris NBRC 9787 (wild strain) used in the present experiments was purchased from the National Institute of Technology and Evaluation, Japan, and was stored at 5 °C as the control. It was inoculated on a PDA (Nissui Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd., Japan) plate with 3.5 cm diameter and incubated for 10 days at 25 °C. The carbon or proton beam irradiation to the plate culture was carried out using the Wakasa-wan Multi-purpose Accelerator with a tandem injector and a synchrotron (Hitachi, Ltd., Japan) at the Wakasa-wan Energy Research Center, Japan. Fig. 2-2 (a) is a photograph of the synchrotron accelerator, and Fig. 2-2 (b) is a schematic diagram of the ion beam irradiation apparatus for biological materials. The beam accelerated by a tandem injector and a synchrotron is transformed into an approximately 4 or 10 cm-square circle beam for the carbon and proton beam irradiations, respectively, with a uniform intensity distribution through the scatters, wobbler magnets and collimator. Fig. 2-2 (c) shows the irradiated areas of the carbon and proton beams, and the conditions for these irradiations are presented in Table 2-1.

Table 2-1	Characteristics	of ion b	eam irra	diations

Lon hoomo	Beam energy	LET	Penetration depth in water	Dose
Ion beams	(MeV)	(keV/µm)	(mm)	(Gy)
Carbon	660	42	9	200-2000
Proton	200	0.5	250	100-1000



Fig. 2-2 (a) Synchrotron Accelerator at Wakasa-wan Multi-purpose Accelerator with Synchroton and Tandem (W-MAST); (b) Schematic diagram of ion beam irradiation apparatus for biological materials at W-MAST; (c) Ion beam irradiated areas of carbon and proton beams

2.2.2-2 Measuring the growth rate of irradiated strains

For the growth rate measurement in a plate, a loop of mycelia from the center of the irradiated plate was inoculated on the center of a fresh 9 cm PDA plate and incubated at 25 °C. The maximum and minimum diameters of the mycelial zone of each plate were measured using a vernier caliper every 3 days. The data from the two irradiated plates were averaged and compared to that of the control. The same procedure was applied for both the carbon and proton beam irradiations.

2.2.2-3 Selection of analogue (8-azaadenine or 8-azaguanine)-resistant mutants

To get higher cordycepin production, the irradiate mutants were grown in the presence of the analogue 8-azaadenine and 8-azaguanine to have 8-azaadenine- and 8-azaguanine-resistant mutants. Because, these mutants can remove the feedback inhibition cycle, and thus could increase the cordycepin production. The procedure followed in this experiment is described below:

A quarter of the mycelia from the irradiated and selected plate was suspended in 5 ml of physiological saline and filtered through double gauze and nylon mesh (250 μ m). The filtrate was diluted to a 1/10 concentration, and then spread on Vogel's medium (using glucose instead of sucrose) agar plate supplemented with 200 mg/l of 8-azaadenine or 8-azaguanine [10]. Colonies that appeared on the plate after incubation at 25 °C (incubation time varied case by case) were isolated, and the selected colony was inoculated on an agar slant composed of the same medium as the stock culture of the mutant that was stored as 5 °C. In this way, the analogue resistant mutants were selected in order to observe the effects of the feedback inhibition cycle on the cordycepin production.

2.2.2-4 Evaluation of cordycepin production performance using anti-microbial test

A *Bacillus subtilis* NBRC 3134 suspension with 1.5×10^5 cells/ml was prepared for the anti-microbial test. A 0.1 ml portion of its suspension was seeded on an agar plate with Spizizen's minimum medium and 5 g/l casamino acids. Furthermore, an 8

mm disk was punched from the center of each plate on which the mutants and control strain of *C. militaris* had been cultured with the medium of the cordycepin production (the basal medium with 2 wt % agar in Table 2-2) for 30 days at 25 °C. Each disk from *C. militaris* was placed on the surface of the agar plate spread with *B. subtilis* and incubated for 24 h at 30 °C. The growth-inhibiting zone toward *B. subtilis* was compared between the mutant and control. The mutants having the more distinct and larger growth-inhibiting zone than the control were taken.

2.2.3 Surface liquid culture of analogue-resistant mutants and control

The stock culture for the control (C. militaris) was stored on a PDA slant at 5 °C. For the 8-azaadenine- or 8-azaguanine-resistant mutants, a Vogel's medium agar slant supplemented with 8-azaadenine or 8-azaguanine was used for the stock culture and also stored at 5 °C. The active PDA slant from the stock culture for the mutant and control was prepared by culturing for 8 days at 25 °C, and then the seed culture transferred from the active slant was grown on a 9 cm PDA plate for 13 days for the control and the 8-azaadenine-resistant mutant. and 20 days for the 8-azaguanine-resistant mutant at 25 °C. The inoculum was prepared by punching out 1 cm of the PDA plate culture using a sterilized cylindrical cutter. The surface liquid culture was started by inoculating the seed disk into a 500 ml culture bottle, which had a 8.5 cm diameter and 14.0 cm height with a bottleneck whose diameter and height were 4.5 and 4.0 cm, respectively. The working volume of the surface liquid culture medium was 100 ml for each bottle, and the bottleneck was fitted with a cotton plug during the culture. The prepared bottles were placed in an incubator maintained at 25±1 °C.

Table 2-2 Composition of basal and enriched medium

Componenta	Concentration (g/l)			
Components	Basal medium	Enriched medium		
Nitrogen sources				
Peptone	2.5	0		
Yeast extract	7.5	45		
Carbon source				
Glucose	20	50		

Others (diluted to 1/10 concentration of Vogel's medium)

(Same	for	both	basal	and	enriched	medium
	~~~~~~		0000	0.00000			

NaOC(COOH)(CH ₂ COONa) ₂ ·2H ₂ O	0.28
$KH_2PO_4$	0.5
NH ₄ NO ₃	0.2
MgSO ₄ ·7H ₂ O	0.02
CaCl ₂ ·2H ₂ O	0.01
Citric acid	$0.46 \times 10^{-3}$
ZnSO ₄ ·7H ₂ O	$0.50 \times 10^{-3}$
$Fe(NH_4)_2(SO_4)_2 \cdot 6H_2O$	$0.10 \times 10^{-3}$
CuSO ₄ ·5H ₂ O	$0.025 \times 10^{-3}$
H ₃ BO ₃	$5.0 \times 10^{-6}$
$MnSO_4$ ·(4–5) $H_2O$	$5.0 \times 10^{-6}$
Na ₂ MoO ₄ ·2H ₂ O	$5.0 \times 10^{-6}$

A 1 ml portion of the medium was mainly sampled at 3 day intervals through the sampling port and filtered through a 0.45  $\mu$ m membrane filter in order to remove the

suspended mycelia. Just before the sampling, the medium was gently agitated for 5 s by a magnetic stirrer. The filtrate was analyzed for cordycepin, glucose and pH. All experiments were carried out at least in duplicate, and the results were then averaged. The composition of basal [4] and enriched medium for the surface liquid culture is presented in Table 2-2.

#### 2.2.4 Analytical procedures

The cordycepin concentration was determined by an HPLC (LC-9A system, Shimadzu Corp., Japan) under the following conditions: TSK-gel ODS-80Ts (Tosoh Corp., Japan); mobile phase, methanol and 0.1% phosphoric acid (2/98, v/v); flow rate, 1.0 ml/min; column temperature, 40 °C and peak detection, UV at 260 nm. The cordycepin concentration shown in this experiment was re-estimated by considering the condensation of the medium in the culture bottle due to vaporization.

The glucose concentration was analyzed by the mutarotase-glucose oxidase method using the Glucose CII test Wako (Wako Pure Chemical Industries, Ltd., Japan). For the measurement of dry mycelia weight, at the end of each culture (glucose conc. <0.5 % of the initial concentration), the entire remaining content in the bottle was centrifuged at 16,000 g (10000 rpm) and 4 °C for 20 minutes. The precipitated mycelia were then sufficiently washed with distilled water, and dried at 105 °C for 24 h to measure the dry mycelia weight. The pH of the collected samples was measured by a pH meter.

## 2.3 Results and discussion

# 2.3.1 Comparison of growth rate of carbon and proton beam irradiated strains with control

Carbon beam irradiation to the plate culture of *C. militaris* with a dose range of 200-2000 Gy revealed that the irradiation doses up to 750 Gy had very little growth,

but over 1000 Gy, there was no growth. In spite of that, screenings of the carbon beam irradiated strains have been carried out for verification, resulting in the acquisition of some 8-azaadenine resistant mutants, but they did not show a higher production of cordycepin compared to the control (data not shown). These results indicated that the carbon beam irradiation was not effective on *C. militaris* as a potential mutagen.



Fig. 2-3 Time courses of the mycelial growth after 600 or 800 Gy proton beam irradiations

Analysis showed that the mutation efficiency decreases (determined by the number of promising mutants obtained) as the growth rate (cm) decreases, but not linear. In fact, it is really hard to describe the relevance of the mutation rates to the changes of the growth rate due to irradiation. For example, the number of total promising mutants (azaadenine- and azaguanine-resistant mutants) obtained were 25, 16 and 17 and their relevant growth rates were respectively 0.22 (600 Gy), 0.19 (800 Gy) and 0.10 (800 Gy) cm, using 600 and 800 Gy irradiation doses. In contrast, the growth rate of the control was 0.34 cm in this experiment.

As DNA repairing after a break caused by ion beam irradiation affects the probability of inducing mutations, high LET carbon beam irradiation to *Cordyceps militaris* would cause dense spatial clustering of DNA damage, which might be difficult to repair [11]. These damages would become a significant impediment to the survival of the wild strain or mutants that might have lower cordycepin production. On the other hand, proton beam irradiation with relatively low LET would cause DNA damages to be capable of repairing and also there may be a higher degree of single gene mutation that occurs in the new mutant obtained by the proton beam irradiation than the carbon beam irradiation. In our preliminary experiment, it was revealed that the UV irradiation was not effective for cordycepin higher production.

After application of the proton beam irradiation to the plate culture at doses of 200, 400, 600 and 800 Gy, the growth rate of the irradiated strains were measured. The results of the irradiation doses of 200 and 400 Gy were almost the same level as that of the control (data not shown). Fig. 2-3 shows the time courses of the mycelial growth for the irradiation doses at 600 and 800 Gy. These results indicated that some of these, that included strain nos. 63, 81 and 82, were more significantly affected than the other irradiated strains. Therefore, these strains were selected for a subsequent screening. Hence, it was expected that a mutation might be induced in these strains whose growth rate was changed due to irradiation. It should be mentioned that the result of the irradiation at a dose below 200 Gy was like the control, while over 1000 Gy, was unsuccessful as there was no mycelial growth.

# 2.3.2 Selection and isolation of mutants that show preferable an anti-microbial effect

After successful irradiation by the proton beam, 30 classes of 8-azaadenine- and 28 classes of 8-azaguanine-resistant mutants were obtained from strain nos. 63, 81 and 82. As cordycepin inhibits the growth of *B. subtilis* [12], the *B. subtilis* growth inhibiting assays of 58 classes of analogue resistant mutants were performed to roughly estimate the capability of the cordycepin production. Of these, 4 mutants

(A63-7, A63-8, A81-2, A81-6) from the 8-azaadenine resistant mutants and 3 mutants (G63-8, G81-3, G82-4) from the 8-azaguanine resistant mutants were promising cordycepin producers. This was a qualitative indicating test prior to testing for the cordycepin production by the surface liquid culture since a quantitative test is not possible here.

# 2.3.3 Cordycepin production by surface liquid culture using selected mutants and control

Figs. 2-4 (a) and (b) show the time courses of the cordycepin production and glucose consumption by a surface liquid culture with basal medium using the 8-azaadenine and 8-azaguanine resistant mutants, respectively. It was observed that the cordycepin production performance of mutant nos. A81-2, A81-6, G63-8 and G82-4 was lower than that of the control. Mutant nos. A63-7 and A63-8 had a higher cordycepin production with a lower metabolic rate than that of the control. In contrast, the metabolic rate of glucose as well as the cordycepin production performance for mutant no. G81-3 was higher than those of the control. Moreover, an intra-strain comparison in 10 consecutive experiments for mutant no. G81-3 also showed similar results indicating the stability of the strain regarding its production.

Regarding the cordycepin production by the surface liquid culture, it was found that some of the 8-azaadenine and 8-azaguanine resistant mutants were better producers. Generally, the levels of the end products from the biosynthesis are regulated by the feedback inhibition, and thus the removal of the feedback cycle could lead to an accumulation of the end products. If a mutant can grow in the presence of the analogue, 8-azaadenine, the feedback inhibition by adenine-related compounds [adenosine monophosphate (AMP), adenosine, adenine] as well as 8-azaadenine is removed to some extent, and thus the adenine-related compounds may be accumulated in the 8-azaadenine-resistant mutant.



Fig. 2-4 Time courses of surface liquid culture using (a) 8-azaadenine resistant and (b) 8-azaguanine resistant mutants

Adenine or adenosine might be a direct precursor of cordycepin as reported in a previous study [13], and therefore, the accumulation of adenine or adenosine could result in an increased cordycepin production. In the same manner, the guanine-related compounds (guanine, guanosine, GMP) might be accumulated in the 8-azaguanine resistant mutant that could increase the codycepin production, because the production of cordycepin and guanine might be related to each other [13]. Although the increased production of the end products is due to a variety of reasons, the feedback mechanism may be one of the major explainable causes of the increased cordycepin production in this experiment.

The surface liquid culture was selected for this experiment, because the cordycepin was suppressed to  $1/10\sim1/13$  relative to the surface culture, probably due to shear stress [4].



Fig. 2-5 Time courses of cordycepin production for surface liquid culture of mutant no. G81-3 and control in enriched medium

In primary optimization, among the 8-azaadenine and 8-azaguanine-resistant mutants, mutant no. G81-3 had the best productivity as 3.1 g/l, which was 72% higher than that of the control (Fig. 2-5). This is the highest value reported up to now

[14: 0.35 g/l; 15: 2.2 g/l], although the optimization of our present experiment was still in primary level. It is well known that the culture medium is very important to the yield of bioactive products like cordycepin because these nutrients are directly related to cell division and metabolic biosynthesis. Therefore, further optimization of the medium is necessary to obtain the highest production of cordycepin from the said mutant no. G81-3.

## 2.4 Conclusion

In the present experiment, the effects of the mutation induced by a high-energy ion beam, which would provide a higher mutation frequency and wider mutation spectrum, were studied with the aim of obtaining a higher cordycepin-producing mutant of *C. militaris*. After *C. militaris* NBRC 9787 was irradiated with a proton beam at 800 Gy, an 8-azaguanine-resistant mutant was selected from the irradiated strains. As a result, a promising mutant no. G81-3, which showed a better performance regarding the metabolic rate of glucose as well as cordycepin production than that of the control, was obtained. Preliminary optimization using the enriched medium also revealed higher productivity of the mutant no. G81-3 than that of the control (cordycepin production as 3.1 g/l vs. 1.8 g/l). As this mutant might have a different metabolic property from that of the control, further optimization of the medium components is suggested in order to reach a higher level of cordycepin production.

### 2.5 References

- [1] Mao XB, Zhong JJ. Hyperproduction of cordycepin by two-stage dissolved oxygen control in submerged cultivation of medicinal mushroom *Cordyceps militaris* in bioreactors. *Biotechnol Progr* 2004, 20: 1408-1413.
- [2] Ng TB, Wang HX. Pharmacological actions of *Cordyceps*, a prized folk medicine. *J Pharm Pharmacol* 2005, 57: 1509-1519.

- [3] Mao XB, Zhong JJ. Significant effect of NH₄⁺ on cordycepin production by submerged cultivation of medicinal mushroom *Cordyceps militaris*. *Enzyme Microb Technol* 2006, 38: 343-350.
- [4] Masuda M, Urabe E, Sakurai A, Sakakibara M. Production of cordycepin by surface culture using the medicinal mushroom *Cordyceps militaris*. *Enzyme Microb Technol* 2006, 39: 641-646.
- [5] Kraft G, Kramer M, Scholz M. LET, track structure and models. *Radiat Environ Biophys* 1992, 31: 161-180.
- [6] Hase Y, Shimono K, Inoue M, Tanaka A, Watanabe H. Biological effects of ion beams in *Nicotiana tabacum* L. *Radiat Environ Biophys* 1999, 38: 111-115.
- [7] Shikazono N, Tanaka A, Kitayama, S Watanabe H, Tano S. LET dependence of lethality in *Arabidopsis thaliana* irradiated by heavy ions. *Radiat Environ Biophys* 2002, 41: 159-162.
- [8] Albert S, Delseny M, Devic M. BANYULS, a novel negative regulator of flavonoid biosynthesis in the *Arabidopsis* seed coat. *The Plant J* 1997, 11: 289-299.
- [9] Feng H, Liu X, Yuan H, Kong M, Wu L, Wu Y, Yu Z. Utilizing low-energy ion beams to study living organisms. *Surf Coat Technol* 2007, 201: 8034-8038.
- [10] Vogel HJ. A convenient growth medium for *Neurospora* (Medium N). *Microbial Genet Bull* 1956, 13: 42-43.
- [11] Goodhead DT. Molecular and cell models of biological effects of heavy ion radiation. *Environ Biophys* 1995, 34: 67-72.
- [12] Rottman F, Guarino AJ. The inhibition of phosphoribosyl-pyrophosphate amidotransferase activity by cordycepin monophosphate. *Biochim Biophys Acta* 1964, 89: 465-472.
- [13] Masuda M, Urabe E, Honda H, Sakurai A, Sakakibara M. Enhanced production of cordycepin by surface culture using the medicinal mushroom *Cordyceps militaris*. *Enzyme Microb Technol* 2007, 40: 1199-1205.
- [14] Mao XB, Eksriwong T, Chauvatcharin S, Zhong JJ. Optimization of carbon source and carbon/nitrogen ratio for cordycepin production by submerged

cultivation of medicinal mushroom *Cordyceps militaris*. *Process Biochem* 2005, 40: 1667-1672.

[15] Shih IL, Tsai KL, Hsieh C. Effects of culture conditions on the mycelial growth and bioactive metabolite production in submerged culture of *Cordyceps militaris*. *Biochem Eng J* 2006, 33: 193-201.

# **CHAPTER 3**

# Optimization of culture medium for cordycepin production using *Cordyceps militaris* mutant obtained by ion beam irradiation

## **3.1 Introduction**

The medicinal mushrooms are abundant sources of useful natural products with various biological activities [1]. Therefore, many researchers in the field of physiology, pharmacology and medical science, etc, are interested in the contents of mushrooms.

Among various mushrooms, *Cordyceps* spp. have been extensively used as the crude drug or folk tonic food in East Asia. The *Cordyceps* genus is a name given to the medicinal mushroom that parasitizes in insects and changes itself to fruiting bodies, and then comes out of the ground. As it appears like a plant growing out of an insect, it is given the self-explanatory name Tochukaso (winter insect-summer plant) in Japan. One of the most important species in *Cordyceps* genus is *Cordyceps militaris* (an entomopathogenic fungus), which belongs to the class *Ascomycetes*. *C. militaris* contains many kinds of active components, such as cordycepin (3'-deoxyadenosine), ergosterol, mannitol and polysaccharides, and due to its various physiological activities, is now used for multiple medicinal purposes [2, 3].

The cordycepin biosynthesized in *C. militaris* is a unique nucleoside analogue, which has a broad spectrum of biological activity, especially as an anti-cancer drug [4, 5]. In nature, *C. militaris* is very scarce due to the requirements of specific hosts and strict growth environments. Therefore, a large scale production of cordycepin by the cultivation of *C. militaris* is currently a significant issue.

To obtain a good productivity, a good strain and an optimized culture condition for it are necessary. As for the good producer of cordycepin, we previously reported a new approach for obtaining a novel mutant of *C. militaris* using high-energy ion beam irradiation [6]. The obtained mutant, G81-3, had 72% higher cordycepin production than that of control in preliminary optimization. As for the culture condition, medium composition, especially carbon and nitrogen sources, is important in the yield of any fermentation products [7-10, 11]. However, as far as we know, there is limited knowledge about the nutritional requirement for cordycepin production by *C. militaris*, and there have been no reports on medium optimization to improve cordycepin production using surface liquid culture. Therefore, in this study, the effect of medium components on mutant strain was analyzed using the response surface method and the medium components for the cordycepin production was optimized.

#### 3.2 Materials and methods

### 3.2.1 Surface liquid culture of the obtained mutant (G81-3) and control

The methodology of the surface liquid culture for *Cordyceps militaris* mutant (G81-3) and control used in the present experiment is as previously described in Chapter 2. The compositions of the basal and enriched media for the surface liquid culture are as shown in Table 3-1.

### 3.2.2 Application of statistical approach for surface liquid culture

# 3.2.2-1 Experiments on effects of initial carbon (C) and nitrogen (N) levels on cordycepin production

The effects of the initial carbon and nitrogen levels on the surface liquid culture of *Cordyceps militaris* were studied using glucose as the C source and yeast extract (Difco Laboratories, USA) as the N source. For investigation of the initial levels of the C and N sources for the better cordycepin production, the levels of glucose (35.86-128.28; 31.72-88.28 g/l for the mutant and control, respectively) and yeast extract (60.86-148.28; 31.72-88.28 g/l for the mutant and control, respectively) in the medium (Table 3-3) were changed, and a statistical approach was applied.

	Concentration (g/l)			
Components	Basal medi	um	Media for optimized condition	
Nitrogen sources				
Peptone	2.5		0	
Yeast extract	7.5		60.86-148.28 (mutant)	
			31.72-88.28 (control)	
Carbon source				
Glucose	20		35.86-128.28 (mutant)	
			31.72-88.28 (control)	
Others (diluted to 1/10 conc	entration of Voge	l's mediun	n)	
(Same for both basa	al and enriched m	edium)		
NaOC(COOH)(CH ₂ COOI	$Na)_2 \cdot 2H_2O$	0.28		
KH ₂ PO ₄		0.5		
NH ₄ NO ₃		0.2		
MgSO ₄ ·7H ₂ O		0.02		
CaCl ₂ ·2H ₂ O		0.01		
Citric acid		0.46 ×	10 ⁻³	
ZnSO ₄ ·7H ₂ O		0.50 ×	$10^{-3}$	
$Fe(NH_4)_2(SO_4)_2 \cdot 6H_2O$		0.10 ×	$10^{-3}$	
CuSO ₄ ·5H ₂ O		0.025 3	$\times 10^{-3}$	
H ₃ BO ₃		5.0 ×	$10^{-6}$	
$MnSO_4$ ·(4–5) $H_2O$		5.0 ×	$10^{-6}$	
Na ₂ MoO ₄ ·2H ₂ O		5.0 ×	$10^{-6}$	

# Table 3-1 Composition of basal & enriched media

### 3.2.2-2 Optimization using Central Composite Design (CCD)

In order to explore the effect of the medium components (glucose and yeast extract) and to optimize them, a statistical approach using the Box-Wilson central composite design (CCD) was conducted [12]. The variable levels for the CCD experiments were set according to the results of our previous experiments. The CCD experimental results were fitted with a second-order polynomial equation of Eq. (1) using a multiple regression technique.

$$y = \beta_0 + \sum \beta_i x_i + \sum \beta_{ij} x_i x_j + \sum \beta_{ii} x_i^2$$
(1)

where y is the predicted response (maximum cordycepin concentration),  $\beta_0$  is a constant coefficient,  $\beta_i$  is the linear coefficient,  $\beta_{ij}$  is the interaction coefficient,  $\beta_{ii}$  is the quadratic coefficient, and  $x_i$  and  $x_j$  are the actual values of glucose and yeast extract concentrations.

In this study, the experimental design consisted of 13 trials (1~8: star and factorial points, each has 2 replications; 9-13: center points), and the independent variables were studied at 5 different levels; as -1.414, -1, 0, +1 and +1.414 (Table 3-2). The analysis of variance (ANOVA) was performed to evaluate significance of the model and coefficients. This analysis included the Fisher's *F*-test (overall model significance) with the associated probability *p*-value, and its statistical significance was checked by the *F*-value. The second order polynomial coefficients were calculated and analyzed to have 3D response surface curves. All the above analyses were done using "Design Expert" software with the version 7.0 (Stat-Ease Inc., USA) statistical package.

Finally, the surface liquid culture with 7 replications was conducted for validation using the predicted concentration (optimized medium) in each culture bottle for both the mutant and control, and then the results were averaged.

Trial	Codeo	d levels
111a1 -	$X_{l}$	$X_2$
1	+1	+1
2	-1	+1
3	+1	-1
4	-1	-1
5	-1.414	0
6	+1.414	0
7	0	-1.414
8	0	+1.414
9	0	0
10	0	0
11	0	0
12	0	0
13	0	0

Table 3-2 Experimental design of the central composite design

## **3.2.3 Analytical procedures**

# 3.2.3-1 Determination of cordycepin, glucose concentration, dry mycelial weight and pH

The concentrations of cordycepin and glucose, dry mycelial weight and pH were measured as previously described in Chapter 2.

# 3.3 Results and discussion

# 3.3.1 Optimization of cordycepin production by response surface methodology

The combined effect of the carbon source (glucose) and nitrogen source (yeast extract) was investigated using CCD, which can help to identify the interaction between the variables. The trace element except C and N sources were the same as the previous experiments [6, 13, 14]. In our preliminary experiments using CCD, that is, the center point was 40 g/l of glucose and 35 g/l of yeast extract and the intervals were 10 g/l for both the mutant and the control, the cordycepin productions by these strains increased as the glucose and yeast extract concentrations increased. The optimal point for the mutant was predicted in higher region than that for the control (data not shown). These results could not contradict with the previous report showing that the metabolic ability of the mutant was higher than that of the control [6].

Based on the above mentioned result, the CCD experiment shown in Table 3-3 (a-1) was first conducted for the mutant, and the predicted concentrations were higher than the experimental range. Then, the experimental ranges were shifted to high concentrations as shown in Table 3-3 (a-3). The results showed that there was no mycelial growth in some culture bottles having a high glucose or yeast extract content. Finally, the CCD experiment shown in Table 3-3 (a-2) was conducted to complement the range between Table 3-3 (a-1) and (a-3). All the three experiments were merged to make a single response surface plot in order to detect the optimized medium concentrations along with the prediction of maximum cordycepin production.

# Table 3-3 Coded and actual values of design factors for investigation of medium components for the (a) mutant and (b) control

Coded levels	Actual factor levels		
	Glucose $(x_1)$	Yeast extract $(x_2)$	
-1.414	35.86	60.86	
-1	40	65	
0	50	75	
1	60	85	
1.414	64.14	89.14	
a-2)			
Coded levels	Actual factor levels		
	Glucose $(x_1)$	Yeast extract $(x_2)$	
-1.414	36.72	56.72	
	45	65	
-1			
-1 0	65	85	
-1 0 1	65 85	85 105	

1	1
19.	
(a-	· <b>·</b> /

Coded levels	Actual factor levels				
	Glucose $(x_1)$	Yeast extract $(x_2)$			
-1.414	71.72	91.72			
-1	80	100			
0	100	120			
1	120	140			
1.414	128.28	148.28			
Coded levels	Actual factor levels				
--------------	----------------------	-----------------------	--	--	--
Coueu levels	Glucose $(x_1)$	Yeast extract $(x_2)$			
-1.414	31.72	31.72			
-1	40	40			
0	60	60			
1	80	80			
1.414	88.28	88.28			

For the control, the predicted medium conditions and cordycepin production were obtained from the experiment having a center point concentration of 60 g/l for both glucose and yeast extract, with the range from 31.72-88.28 g/l as shown in Table 3-3 (b).

(a)					
Source	Sum of squares	df	<i>F</i> -value	<i>p</i> -value	Significance
Model	36.97	5	9.99	< 0.0001	significant
<i>X</i> ₁ : Glucose	24.49	1	33.09	< 0.0001	significant
<i>X</i> ₂ : Yeast extract	4.49	1	6.06	0.0184	significant
$X_1X_2$	1.06	1	1.43	0.2387	
$X_1^2$	10.19	1	13.77	0.0007	significant
$X_2^2$	5.73	1	7.75	0.0083	significant

Table 3-4 Results of ANOVA for optimization of medium components [(a)mutant and (b) control]

Significant: *p*<0.05

# **(b)**

Source	Sum of squares	df	<i>F</i> -value	<i>p</i> -value	Significance
Model	0.91	5	9.08	< 0.0007	significant
X ₁ : Glucose	0.039	1	1.94	0.1874	
X ₂ : Yeast extract	0.56	1	28.05	0.0001	significant
$X_1X_2$	0.000032	1	0.001592	0.9688	
$X_1^2$	0.28	1	14.08	0.0024	significant
$X_2^{2}$	0.17	1	8.61	0.0116	significant

Significant: *p*<0.05



Fig. 3-1 Response surface plots of cordycepin production as a function of glucose and yeast extract concentrations for the (a) mutant and (b) control

A regression analysis was performed to fit the response (cordycepin production) with the experimental data. Based on the obtained variables, the responses were respectively expressed by Eqs. (2) and (3) for the mutant and the control, which presented the cordycepin production y (g/l) as a function of the glucose  $x_1$  (g/l) and yeast extract  $x_2$  (g/l) concentrations.

$$y = -10.14958 + 0.17365x_1 + 0.20110x_2 - 0.00101x_1^2 - 0.00107x_2^2$$
(2) (mutant)  
$$y = -1.37420 + 0.06007x_1 + 0.05443x_2 - 0.00048x_1^2 - 0.00038x_2^2$$
(3) (control)

In both cases, there are no interactions between glucose and yeast extract concentrations. Results of the analysis of variance (ANOVA) showed that the regression model was statistically significant at a 95 % confidence level (p < 0.05) [Tables 3-4 (a, b); where X is the coded value]. The response surface plots obtained from Eqs. (2) and (3) are shown in Figs. 3-1 (a) and (b). The model predicted a maximum response of cordycepin of 6.76 g/l at glucose 86.2 g/l and yeast extract 93.8 g/l for the mutant, and 2.48 g/l at glucose 62.6 g/l and yeast extract 72.5 g/l for the control. The optimized concentrations for the mutant was higher than that of the control. The cordycepin yield, which was defined as the cordycepin production divided by the initial glucose or initial yeast extract concentrations, for the mutant were 0.080 g-cordycepin/g-glucose and 0.073 g-cordycepin/g-yeast extract, respectively. On the other hand, those for the control were 0.040 g-cordycepin/g-glucose and 0.034 g-cordycepin/g-yeast extract, respectively. Both yields of the mutant are almost double that of the control. Therefore, one of the reason for higher production of the mutant was the increase in the yield, i.e., some metabolic or catabolic pathway might be deleted or suppressed by ion beam irradiation.

Although the cordycepin production increased with an increase in the glucose or yeast extract concentrations to a certain level, the results of our experiment showed that a high initial glucose (>100 g/l) or yeast extract (>120 g/l) concentration was unfavorable for the cordycepin biosynthesis (data not shown). Here, the osmotic

35

pressure caused by a high glucose concentration may be detrimental to the metabolic biosynthesis; although another possible reason is the carbon catabolite repression caused by glucose as reported in *Saccharomyces cervisiae* [15] and *Ganoderma lucidum* [10]. To avoid these negative influences of the high concentrations of carbon and nitrogen sources, the fed-batch culture may be effective for higher productivities.

#### 3.3.2 Cordycepin production in optimized medium: validation of the model

Validation was carried out under conditions predicted by the model. Figs. 3-2 (a) and (b) shows the time profiles of the glucose consumption, pH and cordycepin production in the medium with the optimized carbon and nitrogen sources (as predicted) for the mutant and the control, respectively. The maximal cordycepin production reached 6.84 g/l and 2.45 g/l for the mutant and the control using the optimized medium, respectively. These values were almost the same with the predicted ones (6.76 g/l for the mutant and 2.48 g/l for the control). It is obvious that the cordycepin production by the irradiated mutant is much higher than that of the control. That is, the production obtained by the mutant was 179% (2.79 times) higher than the control.

In terms of culture methods of cordycepin production, it is also noteworthy that this new mutant showed a lower production in submerged culture than that in the surface liquid culture probably due to a shear stress as we previously reported for the control [13]. The cordycepin production of this mutant in submerged culture was suppressed to about 3% relative to the surface liquid culture; whereas, that of control was 80% using optimized media. As is predicted from the observation that the mycelial mat of the mutant was weaker than that of the control, the mutant might be more sensitive to shear stress. Therefore, the surface liquid culture was employed in this experiment.



Fig. 3-2 Comparative study of production performance in optimized medium for the (a) mutant (G81-3) and (b) control

The biomass concentrations were 2.91 and 2.11 g-dry mycelia/l for the mutant and the control, respectively. For mycelial growth, it was revealed that the maximal cordycepin production/mycelia at the end of the culture for the mutant was much

higher than that of the control (2.35 *vs.* 1.16 g-cordycepin/g-dry mycelia) furnishing an additional proof of a higher cordycepin production by the mutant.

#### **3.4 Conclusion**

In this study, a process of surface liquid culture of *C. militaris* mutant for the production of a bioactive compound, cordycepin, was demonstrated. The effects of the major nutrients, i.e., the carbon and nitrogen sources on the cordycepin production were studied in order to obtain a suitable culture medium. According to the response surface analysis, the optimal concentrations of glucose and yeast extract for the mutant strain were 86.2 g/l and 93.8 g/l, respectively, and 6.84 g/l cordycepin was obtained. The irradiated mutant showed a 179% higher cordycepin production over the control (wild strain). It is necessary to mention that the cordycepin production reported by a number of researchers is much lower than that of our present study (Table 3-5). Therefore, the obtained mutant will be a promising strain for the large-scale production of cordycepin at pharmaco-industrial levels.

Гab	le	3	-5	Coi	<b>'dycep</b>	in pro	duction	using	Cord	lyceps	militaris	reported	b	y several	auth	nors
-----	----	---	----	-----	---------------	--------	---------	-------	------	--------	-----------	----------	---	-----------	------	------

References	Culture method	Cordycepin production	Productivity
		(g/l)	$[g/(l\cdot d)]$
Mao & Zhong, 2004 [16]	Submerged	0.201	0.015
Mao <i>et al.</i> , 2005 [17]	Submerged	0.345	0.019
Mao & Zhong, 2006 [18]	Submerged	0.421	0.025
Masuda et al., 2006 [13]	Surface liquid	0.640	0.320
Shih <i>et al.</i> , 2006 [19]	Submerged & static	2.210	0.0.92
Masuda et al., 2007 [14]	Surface liquid	2.50	0.158 ^a
This study	Surface liquid	6.84 (mutant)	0.190
		2.45 (control)	0.102 ^b

The medium compositions of **a** and **b** are different. Additives other than C and N sources were used in **a**.

# **3.5 References**

- [1] Gu YX, Wang ZS, Li SX, Yuan QS. Effect of multiple factors on accumulation of nucleosides and bases in *Corydyceps militaris*. *Food Chem* 2007, 102: 1304-1309.
- [2] Mizuno T. Medicinal effects and utilization of *Cordyceps* (Fr.) link (*Ascomycetes*) and *Isaria* Fr. (Mitosporic Fungi) Chinese Caterpillar Fungi, "Tochukaso" (Review). *Int J Med Mushr* 1999, 1: 251-261.
- [3] Song CH, Jeon YJ, Yang BK, Ra KS, Sung JM. Anti-complementary activity of exo-polymers produced from submerged mycelial cultures of higher fungi with particular reference to *Cordyceps militaris*. J Microbiol Biotecnol 1998, 8: 536-539.
- [4] Cunningham KG, Hutchinson SA, Manson W, Spring FS. Cordycepin, a metabolic product from cultures of *Cordyceps militaris* (Linn.) Link. Part I. Isolation and characterisation, *J Chem Soc* 1951: 2299–2300.
- [5] Jiang XL, Sun Y. The determination of active components in various Cordyceps militaris strains. Acta Edulia Fungi 1999, 6: 47–50.
- [6] Das SK, Masuda M, Hatashita M, Sakurai A, Sakakibara M. A new approach for improving cordycepin productivity in surface liquid culture of *Cordyceps militaris* using high-energy ion beam irradiation. *Lett App Microb* 2008, 47: 534-538.
- [7] Tang YJ, Zhong JJ. Fed-batch fermentation of *Ganoderma lucidum* for hyperproduction of polysaccharide and ganoderic acids. *Enzyme Microbial Technol* 2002, 31: 20-28.
- [8] Kim SW, Xu CP, Hwang HJ, Choi JW, Kim CW, Yun JW. Production and characterization of exopolysaccharides from an enthomopathogenic fungus *Cordyceps militaris* NG3. *Biotechnol Progr* 2003, 19: 428-435.
- [9] Park JP, Kim SW, Hwang HJ, Yun JW. Optimization of submerged culture conditions for the mycelial growth and exo-biopolymer production by *Cordyceps militaris*. *Lett App Microb* 2001, 33: 76-81.
- [10] Fang QH, Zhong JJ. Submerged fermentation of higher fungus *Ganoderma lucidum* for production of valuable bioactive metabolites-ganoderic acid and

polysaccharide. Biochem Eng J 2002, 10: 61-65.

- [11] Casas Lopez JL, Sanchez Perez JA, Fernandez Sevilla JM, Acien Fernandez FG, Molina Grima E, Chisti Y. Production of lovastatin by *Aspergillus terreus*: effects of the C:N ratio and the principal nutrients on growth and metabolite production. *Enzyme Microbial Technol* 2003, 33: 270-277.
- [12] Chang YN, Huang JC, Lee CC, Shih IL, Tzeng YM. Use of response surface methodology to optimize culture medium for production of lovastatin by *Monascus rubber. Enzyme Microb Technol* 2002, 30: 889-894.
- [13] Masuda M, Urabe E, Sakurai A, Sakakibara M. Production of cordycepin by surface culture using the medicinal mushroom *Cordyceps militaris*. *Enzyme Microb Technol* 2006, 39: 641-646.
- [14] Masuda M, Urabe E, Honda H, Sakurai A, Sakakibara M. Enhanced production of cordycepin by surface culture using the medicinal mushroom *Cordyceps militaris*. *Enzyme Microb Technol* 2007, 40: 1199-1205.
- [15] Belinchón MM, Gancedo JM. Xylose and some non-sugar carbon sources cause catabolite repression in *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*. Arch Microbiol 2003, 180: 293–297.
- [16] Mao XB, Zhong JJ. Hyperproduction of cordycepin by two-stage dissolved oxygen control in submerged cultivation of medicinal mushroom *Cordyceps militaris* in bioreactors. *Biotechnol Progr* 2004, 20: 1408-1413.
- [17] Mao XB, Eksriwong T, Chauvatcharin S, Zhong JJ. Optimization of carbon source and carbon/nitrogen ratio for cordycepin production by submerged cultivation of medicinal mushroom *Cordyceps militaris*, *Process Biochem* 2005, 40: 1667-1672.
- [18] Mao XB, Zhong JJ. Significant effect of NH4⁺ on cordycepin production by submerged cultivation of medicinal mushroom *Cordyceps militaris*. *Enzyme Microb Technol* 2006, 38: 343-350.
- [19] Shih IL, Tsai KL, Hsieh C. Effects of culture conditions on the mycelial growth and bioactive metabolite production in submerged culture of *Cordyceps militaris*. *Biochem Eng J* 2007, 33:193-201.

# **CHAPTER 4**

# Further increased productivity of cordycepin by *Cordyceps militaris* mutant using additives and repeated batch operation

#### 4.1 Introduction

It has been a difficult path to find a suitable method to increase the production of the anti-cancer agent cordycepin (3'-deoxyadenosine) from the medicinal fungus *Cordyceps militaris*. This novel bio-metabolite cordycepin has a number of valuable applications, not only against cancer, but also against some other diseases as reported by biotechnologists and medical researchers [1, 2]. In our previous experiments, a new mutant of the *Cordyceps militaris* was obtained using ion beam irradiation technology [3]. In the surface culture of that mutant, it was also evident that the biosynthesis of cordycepin can be regulated by the concentrations of the components used in the culture medium, especially of the C and N sources, and some additives that have been investigated in our previous studies [4].

Adenosine or adenine is one of the end products of purine-metabolic pathway and plays an important role as a component of DNA and RNA. In cordycepin production, the function of adenine and adenosine were the same, that is, the adenine moiety made a contribution to the cordycepin biosynthesis. Although adenine was more rapidly transported into the cells than adenosine [4], it was insoluble in higher concentrations during medium preparation.

Similarly, glycine is an amino acid that is used in the purine-metabolic pathway as L-glutamine and L-aspartic acid. Although the cordycepin production by glycine and L-glutamine were of the same level in our previous study, it was found that the effect of glycine was able to be superimposed on that of adenine, but those of adenine and L-glutamine did not posses such a property, using a combination of two such additives [4]. In addition, research is currently being conducted on the apparent anti-oxidant and anti-inflammatory properties of glycine, and it has been found in animal studies and could be useful in many disease states like certain cancers acting

through metabolic pathways [5, 6].

On the other hand, it is well known that the greatest gain in productivity can be achieved by a vicious culture system rather than one cycle cell culture technique, as the fungal cells grow substantially slower in such a time dependent culture system due to lack of required nutrition supply at the end of the each culture cycle. Therefore, the conventional culture system is time dependent and usually accompanied by a low productivity, whereas, the repeated batch operation is independent of time duration, may provide better productivity.

In a repeated batch culture technique, the un-useful medium is removed at the end of each batch and is replenished with a fresh medium having a same medium composition. The microbial mat can be used here more than one time. The addition of a fresh medium and elimination of an un-useful one at the end of each cycle/batch provides the cells with the environment they require actually to achieve a higher productivity.

In our previous experiment, the medium components were optimized for the surface culture of the obtained mutant (G81-3) as 86.2 g/l and 93.8 g/l for C & N sources, respectively and the relevant peak cordycepin production was 6.84 g/l. In an elaborative study to determine the strategies suitable for the extreme production of cordycepin using *Cordyceps militaris* mutant, it was revealed that the effective additive compounds for the cordycepin production were glycine, L-aspartic acid, L-glutamine, adenine and adenosine [4]. In addition, it was also revealed that the application of repeated batch operations had enhanced the productivities to 1.2-1.3 times higher than those by the batch operations [4]. Therefore, it was of great interest to investigate the effects of some additives like adenosine and glycine and repeated batch operation in more detail.

# 4.2 Materials and Methods

#### 4.2.1 Fungal strain, media and stock culture

*Cordyceps militaris* NBRC 9787 used in the present experiments as the control (wild strain) was purchased from the National Institute of Technology and Evaluation, Japan, and a prospective mutant of the said strain obtained by ion beam irradiation (G81-3) were stored on a PDA (Nissui Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd., Japan) slant at 5 °C.

### 4.2.2 Surface liquid culture using the prospective mutant (G81-3)

The surface liquid culture methodology is as previously described in Chapter 2, but the culture was started by inoculating two seed disks (instead of single disk per bottle) into a 500 ml culture bottle. All experiments were carried out at least in duplicate, and the results were averaged. The compositions of the optimized media for the surface liquid culture used in this experiment are shown in Table 4-1.

#### 4.2.3 Experimental design for adenosine and glycine

In the culture medium using previously optimized conditions (Glucose: 86.2 and YE: 93.8 g/l) for the said mutant, 2, 4, 6, 8 and 10 g/l adenosine were separately added.

Glycine was used with the yeast extract in weight percent ratios (yeast extract/glycine) of 40/60, 50/50, 60/40, 70/30, 80/20 and 90/10 under the condition that the total amount of yeast extract and glycine were fixed. Also, glycine was separately added as 10, 20 and 30 weight percents of the yeast extract in the culture medium having the same optimized conditions with a fixed yeast extract concentration.

Common anto	Co	oncentration (	g/l)
Components -	A. Control	B. Mutant	C. Mutant +Adenosine
Nitrogen sources			
Yeast extract	72.5	93.8	93.8
Carbon source			
Glucose	62.6	86.2	86.2
Additive			
Adenosine			6
Others (diluted to 1/10 concer	ntration of Vo	gel's medium	)
(Same for both mutar	nt and the cor	ntrol)	
NaOC(COOH)(CH ₂ COON	a) ₂ ·2H ₂ O	0.28	
KH ₂ PO ₄		0.5	
NH ₄ NO ₃		0.2	
MgSO ₄ ·7H ₂ O		0.02	
CaCl ₂ ·2H ₂ O		0.01	
Citric acid		$0.46 \times 10^{-10}$	-3
ZnSO ₄ ·7H ₂ O		$0.50 \times 10^{-10}$	-3
$Fe(NH_4)_2(SO_4)_2 \cdot 6H_2O$		$0.10 \times 10^{-10}$	-3
CuSO ₄ ·5H ₂ O		0.025 × 1	$0^{-3}$
H ₃ BO ₃		$5.0 \times 10^{-6}$	5
$MnSO_4$ ·(4–5) $H_2O$		$5.0 \times 10^{-6}$	5
Na ₂ MoO ₄ ·2H ₂ O		$5.0 \times 10^{-6}$	5

Table 4-1 Composition of optimized media for repeated batch operation(mutant and control)

# 4.2.4 Repeated batch operation

A medium exchanging port was placed at the same position as the sampling port in the 500 ml surface liquid culture bottle. In addition, the supporter, which was made with stainless steel wire ( $\phi = 0.3$ mm) was placed in the bottle in order to prevent the biofilm from soaking in the liquid medium. The culture broth replaced with a fresh medium through the medium exchanging port using a syringe as soon as the glucose concentration tends to zero (glucose conc. <0.5% of the initial conc.) (Figs. 4-1 a, b). Three repeated batch operations were conducted simultaneously using the control, mutant, and mutant with the best adenosine concentration (6 g/l) attained in the preceding experiment and the optimized media were as shown in Table 4-1.



(a) Old Medium drawn

(b) With a fresh medium

#### Fig. 4-1 (a, b) Replenishment of culture medium in a repeated batch culture

#### 4.2.5 Preparation of extract from the mycelia of C. militaris

The cultured mycelia of *C. militaris* were separated from the medium and sufficiently rinsed with distilled water. The mycelia were dried in a vacuum drying oven at 40°C for 24 h and then ground into a powder. The dry powder (0.5 g) was suspended in 10ml of distilled water and sonicated for 30 min at 20KHz, and 100 W (XL2020, Heat System Inc., USA) in an ice bath. The supernatant obtained by centrifugation of this homogenate was used as the extract solution from the mycelia.

#### 4.2.6 Analytical procedures

The concentrations of cordycepin and glucose, dry mycelial weight and pH were measured as previously described in Chapter 2.

The concentrations of the nucleic acid-related compounds other than cordycepin in the filtrate and the extract were also determined by HPLC monitored by UV absorbance at 260 nm, which was the same system as previously described in Chapter 2. The mobile phase was prepared from the two solvent systems (A, 2.0% MeOH in 0.01 M (NH₄)H₂PO₄; B, 20% MeOH in 0.01 M (NH₄)H₂PO₄). After solution "A" was used as the mobile phase for 20 min, the linear gradient was performed by decreasing the ratio of "A" from 100% to 0% for 10 min. For the next 10 min, 100% of "B" was used as the mobile phase. The overall elution time was 40 min. The flow rate was 0.8 ml/min, and the column temperature was 40 °C. The authentic standards were purchased from the Wako Pure Chemical Industries, Ltd., Japan.

#### 4.3 Results and discussion

# 4.3.1 Effects of additives

#### 4.3.1-1 Effect of adenosine on cordycepin production

In the culture medium using the previously optimized conditions (described in Chapter 2) for the said mutant, 2, 4, 6, 8 and 10 g/l adenosine were added separately. These results revealed that the highest cordycepin production was 8.57 g/l for the 6 g/l adenosine was 28% higher than that of the control (6.69 g/l) (Figs. 4-3 and 4-4). This is the highest cordycepin production reported to date. Similarly, the results of the other concentrations also superseded that of the control (Fig. 4-3). The time course of glucose showed that the glucose consumption for the 4 g/l adenosine was the fastest, while that of 10 g/l was the slowest with the longest culture time among all the treatments (Fig. 4-2).



Fig. 4-2 Time courses of glucose consumption for surface liquid culture using adenosine as an additive



Fig. 4-3 Time courses of cordycepin concentration for surface liquid culture using adenosine as an additive



Fig. 4-4 Maximum cordycepin production in surface liquid culture using different concentrations of adenosine as an additive

As the structure of the nucleoside adenosine is very close to that of cordycepin (3'-deoxyadenosine), there might be a possibility of the metabolic conversion of adenosine to cordycepin by an unknown pathway, which needs to be investigated. This result is consistent with the findings reported by Masuda *et al.* [4].

# 4.3.1-2 Effect of glycine on cordycepin production

Glycine was used with yeast extract in weight percent ratios (yeast extract/glycine) of 40/60, 50/50, 60/40, 70/30, 80/20 and 90/10 under the condition that the total amount of yeast extract and glycine were fixed. Also, glycine was separately added as 10, 20 and 30 weight percents of the yeast extract in the culture medium having the same optimized conditions with a fixed yeast extract concentration.



Fig. 4-5 Time courses of glucose consumption for surface liquid culture using glycine as an additive (100=93.8 g/l)



Fig. 4-6 Time courses of cordycepin concentration for surface liquid culture using glycine as an additive (100=93.8 g/l)



Fig. 4-7 Maximum cordycepin production in surface liquid culture using different concentrations of glycine as an additive

These results showed that the best cordycepin production was 6.80 g/l for the ratio of 90/10 was 12% higher than the control (6.05 g/l) (Figs. 4-6, 4-7). The cordycepin production for the ratios 70/30 and 80/20 were also higher than that of the control, while the others produced a lower cordycepin amounts compared to that of the control, especially the cordycepin production by the 10, 20 and 30 weight percents of yeast extract inversely decreased with the glycine concentration (Figs. 4-6, 4-7).

Regarding the time course, the glucose consumption for the 40/60 ratio was the fastest, while for the 30 weight percent yeast extract, it was the slowest with the longest culture time among all the treatments (Fig. 4-5). As the cordycepin production was lower in case of glycine, a minute investigation is needed to explore the constituents of glycine and yeast extract, which might furnish an important clue of decreased production.

## 4.3.2 Effects of repeated batch operation

#### 4.3.2-1 Typical batch culture of C. militaris

Three repeated batch operations were performed using control and mutant using optimized medium for each. In addition, adenosine supplemented medium was used for the mutant. The surface of the liquid medium was covered with biofilm by 15 days for the mutant and 12 days for the control. Figs. 4-8, 4-9 & 4-10 show the typical time courses of cordycepin production, glucose, and pH by surface liquid culture using optimized medium for the control (wild strain), mutant, and mutant with adenosine each.



Fig. 4-8 Typical time course of the surface liquid culture using control



Fig. 4-9 Typical time course of the surface liquid culture using mutant G81-3



Fig. 4-10 Typical time course of the surface liquid culture using mutant G81-3 with adenosine

The cordycepin production started slightly after the starting of the cell growth and almost stopped when the glucose consumption was finished. When the residual glucose reached 0, there was a rise in pH due to autolysis leading to the maximum cordycepin production. The production and productivities of cordycepin were 2.33, 0.16; 5.68, 0.22 and 7.34 g/l, 0.26 g/(l· d) for control, mutant and mutant with adenosine in batch operations, respectively (Figs. 4-8, 4-9, & 4-10; Table 4-2). It is noteworthy that the present cordycepin productions were somewhat lower than those obtained in our previous experiment (Chapter 3, Table 3-5). In fact, cordycepin production was calculated in this experiment on the day having the highest productivity in each case in contrast to that of the control (Table 4-2), which is practically a few days before reaching the production peak level.

# 4.3.2-2 Repeated batch culture of control, mutant and mutant with adenosine using optimized media

For a further increase in cordycepin production, the feasibility of the repeated batch operation was examined. In our present technique, steel wires with special nets were used to replenish the medium without causing any harm to the surface biofilm. The glucose consumption was used as a criterion for the exchange of medium. Figs. 4-11 (a), 4-12 (a) and 4-13 (a) show the time courses of the cordycepin production and Figs. 4-11 (b), 4-12 (b) and 4-13 (b) show the glucose concentrations and pH of the control, mutant and mutant with adenosine, respectively, when an optimized medium was used for each.



Fig. 4-11 (a) Time courses of the cordycepin production of repeated batch operation using control



Fig. 4-11 (b) Time courses of the glucose concentration and pH of repeated batch operation using control



Fig. 4-12 (a) Time courses of the cordycepin production of repeated batch operation using mutant



Fig. 4-12 (b) Time courses of the glucose concentration and pH of repeated batch operation using mutant



Fig. 4-13 (a) Time courses of the cordycepin production of repeated batch operation using mutant with adenosine



Fig. 4-13 (b) Time courses of the glucose concentration and pH of repeated batch operation using mutant with adenosine

In every case of repeated batch culture using control, mutant, and mutant with adenosine, the better production that was not less than the initial level was maintained up to the third cycle and later, they showed lower cordycepin productions as the whole operation was continued for five cycles/batches. On the medium exchanging day, sampling for both the last day of the succeeding batch and first day (0 day) for the preceding batch were done and between them the cordycepin production was considered as zero. As we mentioned about the mycelial autolysis, it is quite possible to prevent the mycelia from autolysis by the repeated batch operation resulting in an increased production (g/l) divided by the total time period needed for that. To have the highest productivity, this period is considered up to the day of the last batch after the glucose concentration became below 0.5% of the initial concentration (Table 4-2).

The results of cordycepin production and productivities of control, mutant and mutant with adenosine per batch calculated from the all sum of all the batches were summarized in Table 4-2. The productivities of the repeated batches were 34%, 86% and 82% higher than those of batches for control, mutant and mutant with adenosine, respectively; whereas, those of mutant and mutant with adenosine were 113% and 131% higher than that of the control, respectively. Also, productivity of mutant with adenosine was 9% higher than that of the mutant in repeated batch culture. Additionally, the productivities of batch operations of mutant and mutant with adenosine were 53% and 70% higher than that of the control. Hence, the effectiveness of the repeated batch operation is obvious in both the cases of mutant and control.

	Control	Mu	ıtant
Culture types	A. Optimized medium	B. Optimized medium	C. Optimized medium Adenosine
Batch			
Period (d)	15	24	24-30
Production (g/l)	2.33	5.68	7.34
Productivity [g/(l·d)]	0.155	0.237	0.263
Repeated batch			
Period (d)	42 ^b	51 ^a	51 ^a
Production ^a (g/l)	8.677 ^b	22.50 ^a	24.43 ^a
Productivity [g/(l·d)]	0.207 ^b	0.441 ^a	0.479 ^a

 Table 4-2 Comparison of cordycepin productivity in batch and repeated batch

 cultures

^a Five batches, ^b Three batches

Although the production of repeated batch culture was higher than that of the batch culture, in a close investigation, it was observed that some parts of the mycelia did not touch the replenished fresh medium. It might be one of the major explainable causes (Fig. 4-14 a) for not reaching the production a further higher level. As the culture continued for a long time, the mycelia became curvy; also somewhere it sunk into the medium and some parts became cracked, these facts may be considered for decreased production of cordycepin (Figs. 4-14 b, c & d).

In this experiment, it was revealed that the application of repeated batch operation could increase the production and productivity significantly in contrast to the batch operation. Therefore, this technique will be applicable for industrial production of cordycepin for future uses, leading to develop a continuous production protocol. These results are entirely consistent with previous work of our laboratory [4]. It is also mentionable that it could reduce the labour, time and energy.





(a) Untouched mycelia

(b) Curved mycelia



(c) Sunk mycelia



(d) Cracked mycelia

# Fig. 4-14 Photographs of untouched, curved, sunk and cracked mycelia in repeated batch operation

# 4.3.2-3 Nucleic acid-related compounds

The contents of nucleic acid-related compounds in the extract from the mycelia and the filtrate of medium by the batch operation for the mutant and the control are summarized bellow in Table 4-3.

Contents	Extract from mycelia	Filtrate of medium
	(mg)	(mg)
C. militaris		
NBRC 9787 (18d)		
Mycelia	$3.29 \times 10^{4}$	
Adenine	2.9	2.8
Guanine	18.5	175.2
Uracil	37.1	105.0
Adenosine	91.1	52.6
Guanosine	78.7	47.1
Uridine	106.8	81.1
Cordycepin	56.2	$2.5 \times 10^{3}$
C. militaris		
G81-3 (24d)		
Mycelia	$3.87 \times 10^{4}$	
Adenine	1.6	5.1
Guanine	23.2	271.7
Uracil	29.2	185.2
Adenosine	45.4	132.0
Guanosine	41.3	97.8
Uridine	45.4	122.6
Cordycepin	129.7	$4.5 \times 10^{3}$

# Table 4-3 Nucleic acid-related compounds obtained from C. militaris

All values were estimated on the basis of a working volume of 1L.

Analyzing the results, it is evident that major portion of cordycepin existed in the medium, that is, the synthesized cordycepin was immediately excreted in the medium. This is consistent with the results reported by Masuda *et al.* [4]. In case of

the control, it was found that the concentrations of adenosine and guanosine decrease as the cordycepin concentration increase. On the other hand, in case of the mutant, the concentrations of adenosine and guanosine increase with an increase of cordycepin concentration. This result suggests that the production of cordycepin using mutant is linked to either adenosine and/or guanosine in the medium.

#### 4.3.2-4 Measurement of dry mycelial weight

In a comparison of dry mycelial weight, it was found that in every case of mutant, regardless of culture technique, the dry mycelial weight was higher than that of the control. Table 4-4 summarized the comparison of dry mycelial weight of mutant and the control.

	Control	Mutant		
Culture types	A. Optimized	B. Optimized	C. Optimized	
	medium	medium	Adenosine	
Batch				
Period (d)	18	36	36	
Dry mycelial weight	22.0	25.0	33.6	
(g/l)	52.9	55.0		
Repeated batch				
Period (d)	72	51	51	
Dry mycelial weight	112.2	126.5	130.2	
(g/l)	113.2	120.3		

#### Table 4-4 Comparison of dry mycelial weight of mutant and the control

It is evident that the dry mycelial weight of mutant is always accompanied by a higher cordycepin productivity showing a positive relationship with each other.

# 4.4 Conclusion

The results of the present experiments suggested that the additives had positive influences on cordycepin production in which the adenosine had a much better influence than that of glycine. It is necessary to mention that the cordycepin production reported by a number of authors [2, 4, 7-10] is much lower than that of our present research study (8.57 g/l). In this experiment, it was also evident that a higher concentration of both the adenosine and glycine negatively affected the cordycepin production.

Furthermore, the repeated batch operation presently investigated was also significantly effective in increasing the productivity of cordycepin as well as a continuous production protocol for industrial uses. In a course of searching a suitable culture technique, the repeated batch operations of control, mutant, and mutant with adenosine with an optimized medium for each were used. The cordycepin productivities of batches and repeated batches were 0.16, 0.20; 0.24, 0.44 and 0.26 g/l, 0.48  $g/(l \cdot d)$  for control, mutant, and mutant with adenosine, respectively. In fact, the productivities of the repeated batches were 34%, 86% and 82% higher than those of batches for control, mutant and mutant with adenosine, respectively; whereas, those of mutant and mutant with adenosine were 113% and 131% higher than that of the control, respectively. The nucleic acid-related compounds analysis revealed that the adenosine and guanosine were somehow linked to cordycepin production in case of mutant. Therefore, the mutant (G81-3) obtained by the proton beam irradiation with the best adenosine concentration (8.57 g/l) might be an effective combination for repeated batch operation in optimized medium to achieve a further higher cordycepin productivity. The present research will also provide valuable information for mushroom researchers, cancer and radiation biologists, chemical engineers, biotechnologists, medical practitioners, and personnel in the pharmaceutical industries.

#### **4.5 References**

- [1] Ng TB, Wang HX. Pharmacological actions of *Cordyceps*, a prized folk medicine. *J Pharm Pharmacol* 2005, 57: 1509-1519.
- [2] Mao XB, Zhong JJ. Significant effect of NH₄⁺ on cordycepin production by submerged cultivation of medicinal mushroom *Cordyceps militaris*. *Enzyme Microb Technol* 2006, 38: 343-350.
- [3] Das SK, Masuda M, Hatashita M, Sakurai A, Sakakibara M. A new approach for improving cordycepin productivity in surface liquid culture of *Cordyceps militaris* using high-energy ion beam irradiation. *Lett Appl Microbiol* 2008, 47: 534-538.
- [4] Masuda M, Urabe E, Honda H, Sakurai A, Sakakibara M. Enhanced production of cordycepin by surface culture using the medicinal mushroom *Cordyceps militaris*. *Enzyme Microb Technol* 2007, 40: 1199-1205.
- [5] Ikejima K, Qu W, Stachlewitz RF, Thurman RG. Kupffer cells contain a glycine-gated chloride channel. *Am J Physiol* 1997, 272: 1581-1586.
- [6] Wheeler MD, Thurman RG. Production of superoxide and TNFα from alveolar macrophages is blunted by glycine. Am J Physiol 1999, 277: 952-959.
- [7] Mao XB, Zhong JJ. Hyperproduction of cordycepin by two-stage dissolved oxygen control in submerged cultivation of medicinal mushroom *Cordyceps militaris* in bioreactors. *Biotechnol Progr* 2004, 20: 1408-1413.
- [8] Mao XB, Eksriwong T, Chauvatcharin S, Zhong JJ. Optimization of carbon source and carbon/nitrogen ratio for cordycepin production by submerged cultivation of medicinal mushroom *Cordyceps militaris*. *Process Biochem* 2005, 40: 1667-1672.
- [9] Masuda M, Urabe E, Sakurai A, Sakakibara M. Production of cordycepin by surface culture using the medicinal mushroom *Cordyceps militaris*. *Enzyme Microb Technol* 2006, 39: 641-646.
- [10] Shih IL, Tsai KL, Hsieh C. Effects of culture conditions on the mycelial growth and bioactive metabolite production in submerged culture of *Cordyceps militaris*. *Biochem Eng J* 2007, 33: 193-201.

# CHAPTER 5 General conclusion

#### **5.1 Achievements**

The author minutely investigated the different techniques that might be used for higher production of the potential anti-cancer agent cordycepin from the medicinal mushroom *Cordyceps militaris* to be used in the realm of pharmaco-industrial biotechnology. Mutation by ion beam irradiation (carbon and proton), medium optimization, use of suitable additives and finally repeated batch operations are the salient tools in this regard.

Chapter 2 describes a novel approach to obtain a prospective Cordyeps militaris mutant for higher cordycepin production using high-energy ion beam irradiation. Carbon beam irradiation revealed a little change in their growth rate, however, a higher production of cordycepin compared to the control was not accomplished. Following the successful proton beam irradiation, 30 classes of 8-azaadenine- and 28 classes of 8-azaaguanine-resistant mutants were obtained, of which 7 classes (A63-7, A63-8, A81-2, A81-6, G63-8, G81-3, G82-4) were selected as initially promising mutants using their antibacterial ability as an index of the cordycepin production. Results of a surface liquid culture revealed that the cordycepin production ability of mutant nos. A81-2, A81-6, G63-8 and G82-4 was lower than that of the control. Mutant nos. A63-7 and A63-8 had a higher cordycepin production with a lower metabolic rate than that of the control. On the other hand, mutant no. G81-3 was higher than that of the control regarding the metabolic rate of glucose as well as the cordycepin production ability. Therefore, for primary optimization using enriched medium, G81-3 was selected as a promising one that had 72 % higher cordycepin production than that of the control (3.1 vs. 1.8 g/l).

In Chapter 3, the optimization of medium components was depicted for the culture of *Cordyceps militaris* mutant obtained by ion beam irradiation. According to the response surface analysis using a central composite design the predicted maximum

response of cordycepin production was 6.76 g/l at glucose 86.2 g/l and yeast extract 93.8 g/l for the mutant no. G81-3, and 2.48 g/l at glucose 62.6 g/l and yeast extract 72.5 g/l for the control. The cordycepin production of the mutant was 2.79 times higher than that of the control. Validation was carried out under conditions predicted by the model that revealed a close correlation between the predicted and experimental values (6.84 and 2.45 g/l for mutant and control, respectively).

Chapter 4 describes the strategies for a further higher cordycepin production by employing the additives influenced biosynthesis of cordycepin and repeated batch operation using Cordyceps militaris mutant. In the culture medium under the previously optimized conditions for the said mutant, 2, 4, 6, 8 and 10 g/l adenosine were separately added. These results revealed the highest cordycepin production of 8.57 g/l when using 6 g/l adenosine was 28% higher than that of the control (6.69 g/l). This is the highest report of cordycepin production until now. Similarly, the results of other concentrations also superseded the control. For the same purpose, glycine was used with yeast extract in weight percent ratios (yeast extract/glycine) of 40/60, 50/50, 60/40, 70/30, 80/20 and 90/10 under the condition that the total amount of yeast extract and glycine were fixed. Also, glycine was separately added as 10, 20 and 30 weight percents of the yeast extract in the culture medium having the same optimized conditions with a fixed yeast extract concentration. These results showed that the 90/10 ratio had the best cordycepin production of 6.80 g/l that was 12% higher versus the control (6.05 g/l). The cordycepin production of the 70/30 and 80/20 weight percent ratios were also higher than that of the control, while the others had a lower cordycepin production compared to that of the control. Although, adenosine had a much better influence than glycine, it was also evident that a higher concentration of both adenosine and glycine negatively affected the cordycepin production. Later on, the repeated batch culture operations using optimized conditions for control, mutant and mutant with the best adenosine concentration (6 g/l) were performed in order to have a further higher cordycepin productivity for industrial uses. The cordycepin productivities of batches and repeated batches were 0.16, 0.20; 0.24, 0.44 and 0.26 g/l, 0.48 g/(1 · d) for control, mutant and mutant with

adenosine, respectively. In fact, the productivities of the repeated batches were 34%, 86% and 82% higher than those of batches for control, mutant and mutant with adenosine, respectively; whereas, those of mutant and mutant with adenosine were 113% and 131% higher than that of the control, respectively. Also, productivity of mutant with adenosine was 9% higher than that of the mutant in repeated batch culture. Additionally, the productivities of batch operations of mutant and mutant with adenosine were 53% and 70% higher than that of the control. Hence, the effectiveness of the repeated batch operation is obvious in both the cases of mutant and control.

#### 5.2 Future perspectives

Nature is the source of all the raw materials that we need. About 2-3 decades ago, most of the drugs were of herbal origin. A variety of reasons remain behind why people like to use natural medicines as it is evident that patients are getting even more distressed after using the chemically synthesized drugs, rather than natural means like medicinal mushrooms that can conquer life-claiming diseases, leaving no side effects on human health. To maintain proper growth, the pharmaceutical industries need innovation and access to high output rate on low-cost materials with reasonable safety. The combination of modern chemistry with bio-based starting materials, like bio-metabolites, offers the scope for revolutionizing mushroom based pharmaceutical industries. In the near future, bio-metabolites (cordycepin, polysaccharides etc.) extracted from medicinal mushroom like *C. militaris* will have a role that compares with that of oil and gas crackers today.

The ancient medicinal fungus *C. militaris*, which has been used as a crude drug for the welfare of mankind in old civilization, is now of a matter of concern due to its unexplored potentials. The anti-cancer agent cordycepin obtained from *C. militaris* have more than 21 clinically approved beneficial effects for human health. Especially, the anti-cancer agent cordycepin from *C. militaris* is expected to play evolutionary roles in the pharmacognosy sector, leading to create a viable base for

pharmaceutical industries as some emerging diseases like CANCER, SARS, AIDS, SWINE FLU have no proper remedies yet. In this regard, it needs further elaborative pharmacological investigation and clinical trials.
## List of publications

## A. In referred journals:

- <u>S. K. Das</u>, M. Masuda, M. Hatashita, A. Sakurai and M. Sakakibara. A new approach for improving cordycepin productivity in surface liquid culture of *Cordyceps militaris* using high-energy ion beam irradiation. *Letters in Applied Microbiology* 2008, 47: 534-538.
- (2) <u>S. K. Das</u>, M. Masuda, A. Sakurai and M. Sakakibara. Effects of additives on cordycepin production using a *Cordyceps militaris* mutant induced by ion beam irradiation. *African Journal of Biotechnology* 2009, 8 (13): 3041-3047.
- (3) <u>S. K. Das</u>, M. Masuda, M. Hatashita, A. Sakurai and M. Sakakibara. Optimization of culture medium for cordycepin production using *Cordyceps militaris* mutant obtained by ion beam irradiation. *Process Biochemistry* 2009, (accepted).

## **B.** Meetings/congress/conference publications:

- (1) <u>S. K. Das</u>, M. Masuda, M. Hatashita, A. Sakurai and M. Sakakibara. Optimization of C & N sources for cordycepin production using promising *Cordyceps militaris* mutant obtained by proton beam irradiation. *The 39th Autumn Meeting, The Society of Chemical Engineers Japan*, Hokkaido University, Sapporo 2007, September 13-15, No. 30F023.
- (2) M. Masuda, S. K. Das, M. Hatashita, A. Sakurai, M. Sakakibara. Production of cordycepin using *Cordyceps militaris* mutant induced by proton beam irradiation. *The 59th Annual Meeting, The Society for Biotechnology, Japan,* Hiroshima University, Hiroshima 2007, September 25-27, No. 2D14-1.
- (3) <u>S. K. Das</u>, M. Masuda, M. Hatashita, A. Sakurai and M. Sakakibara. Acquisition of *Cordyceps militaris* mutants by ion-beam irradiation and development of large-scale production of anti-cancer agent. *The 40th Autumn*

Meeting, The Society of Chemical Engineer Japan, Tohoku University, Sendai 2008, September 24-26, No. X152.

- (4) <u>S. K. Das</u>, M. Masuda, A. Sakurai and M. Sakakibara. Frontier prospects of medicinal mushroom *Cordyceps militaris* in the realm of cancer research. *The* 2nd Annual World Cancer Congress: Gateway to Future Medicine, Beijing, China 2009, June 22-25, No. 504.
- (5) <u>S. K. Das</u>, M. Masuda, A. Sakurai and M. Sakakibara. Effects of additives on cordycepin production using the *Cordyceps militaris* mutant induced by ion beam irradiation. *The 5th International Medicinal Mushroom Conference*, Nantong, China 2009, September 5-8, ID No. 09060172.

## Acknowledgements

The studies presented in this thesis were carried out at the Department of Applied Chemistry and biotechnology, Graduate School of Engineering, University of Fukui from 2006 to 2009 under the guidance of Professor Dr. Mikio Sakakibara.

I am ever indebted to my honorable PhD supervisor, Professor Dr. Mikio Sakakibara for giving me an opportunity to study in his laboratory and also for steering me clear to a scholarship. His inquiry and valuable academic advice in research have been of greatest help at all times and without his active support, it would have never been possible to receive my PhD degree. I would like to extend my gratitude to the members of the advisory committee for their valuable comments and constructive suggestions in the preparation of the manuscript.

I am grateful to Associate Professor Dr. Akihiko Sakurai for his positive criticism that helped me to upgrade my status regarding research soon after I found him as my teacher. My heartfelt gratitude is due to Mr. Fumio Okada, Technical Support Staff, for his sincere help regarding the preparation of my thesis. I am also thankful to Dr. Masanori Hatashita, Research & Development Department, The Wakasa-wan Energy Research Center, Tsuruga, Japan for his technical assistance in preparing the irradiated plates of ion beam. Words fail me to express my heartfelt gratitude to Professor Kiyoshi Nakashima of International Student Center, University of Fukui, who first introduced me to my respected supervisor.

I am thankful to Dr. Mina Masuda, a post-doctoral fellow who gave me valuable suggestions about my research and thesis preparation whenever I needed that has made me faithful in doing the research independently. It would have been impossible to prepare the manuscript without her help.

My cordial and sincere thanks go to Mr. Hiromitsu Honda who first introduced me to different preliminary research technologies and the ways to work in our laboratory. I am really thankful to Mr. Marcio Inoue who helped me frequently whenever I needed, starting from my first step into this university. I also acknowledge sincerely to Mr. Shinya Fujihara for his continuous help regarding technical assistance. Thanks to Mr. Hiromasa Hayakawa and other members of cordycepin group for their kind help time to time.

I am ever grateful to my beloved family members, specially my parents for their untiring efforts in bringing me to this present position. I wish to thank all of my well-wishers in national and international levels. I would like to acknowledge the Japanese Government for providing me the MEXT scholarship and also Bangladesh Agricultural University for granting me study-leave during my study period here.

Last but not in the least, love is due to all other members of Professor Sakakibara Lab and also the teaching and other official staff of the Department of Applied Chemistry & Biotechnology, University of Fukui, for their inspiration, suggestions and cooperation.

どうもありがとうございました

September, 2009

Shonkor Kumar Das